Short Review of History and Current Stage of Congregation of the Mission

of St. Vincent de Paul (Lazarists) in Slovakia

First Members of the Congregation of the Mission appear in the Slovakia in 18-th Century in the connexion with the invitation of Ugrian Primas to take the lead of diocese seminaries in Austro-Hungarian Monarchy at that time,  therefore in 1762 the first Lazarists are coming into one of that time post-Trident seminaries in Trnava.  According to well-preserved documents their ministry there was very successful, however short.  In 1852 they are coming to Monarchy again, now indefinitely.  One year later rose the Province of Grac, to which the houses in Celje (in the territory of today's Slovenia), Grac (Austria), and after the dividing of Poland also the houses in Krakow.

The primary mission of the Congregation of the Mission was Folks – Parish Mission. Its members had been coming to Slovakia from Austrian Graz.  They was Slovaks, who entered the Congregation of the Mission.  According to the well-preserved documents they conducted more than 100 Folks Missions throughout the Slovakia in the years 1862 – 1914. 

Brand-new situation has arrived after the First World War, when the Czechoslovak Republic came into existence at the remainders of Austro-Hungarian Monarchy.  After the establishing of their borders the activity of Congregation of the Mission in Slovakia was totally terminated.  The new period has become just after the year 1922, when Jozef Danielik appointed as the Director of Daughters of Christian Love (Vincentian Sisters, Slovak shortage: DKL) was sent to our territory and beside the building-up the DKL province he started also to build-up also the basis for the activities of Congregation of the Mission in Slovakia.  The other confreres had gradually begun to arrive to help him in Slovakia too. The first small house of this Congregation was built in Ladce in 1929. 

In the same year the Apostolic School was erected in Banská Bystrica, where their first candidates were given the accommodation and formation. Because the Congregation of the Mission has been blessed with the first vocations, superiors had been sending these boys into Novice-House and Priest-Seminary in Graz.  So the Congregation of the Mission could develop its activity in this way.  In the year 1936 the Congregation took on the ministry in the in the campus “Svoradov” in Bratislava, and when their seminarians had to leave the Graz because of Nazist׳s riots, they have found the accommodation right here.  At the threshold of the Second World War, in the year 1938 Jozef Danielik died.  In that time the Congegation of the Mission had 6 priests and 10 brothers.

In 1939 the Slovak State came into existence and passed the act that the leading positions in all offices had to be carried on by Slovak people. This applied also for superiors of congregations, which had to either, have a Slovak as their head or, to close their activity.  Based on the decision of General Vicar and his Council, the independent Slovak Vice-Province was originated in 1942 with Ján Hutyra as its superior, who was also the Director of Vincentian sisters.  Work of sons of St. Vincent has been flourishing in that time; the Vice-Province had 10 priests, 2 students and 11 brothers.  The ministry to care about retreat for priests and about work of retreat in the Slovakia was entrusted to Congregation of the Mission.  The province house was in Ladce.  The Apostolic School was in Banská Bystrica, where the boys from poor families had been given the accommodation and education. Many of them decided to enter the Congregation of the Mission and started with their education as novices, then as students of philosophy and theology.  In the year 1950 this school had 3 students and 8 novices. 

After the installation of communism the great persecution of all orders including the Congregation of the Missions had been started up. All houses had been confiscated, the members kidnapped to concentrating camps, the younger had been forced to work in technical military battalions. In spite of this time the seminarians of Lazarists secretly started to study in Nitra, though they were soon trapped by state security.  The time of great trials against this Congregation had followed, when almost all her members were condemned to heavy punishments.  Together they were sentenced to 139 years and 4 months of prison. 

After the short political release by the end of 60-ties (“Prague Spring”) the time of “normalisation” had followed, which aimed at the radical assumption of power and the check-up at all levels.  In spite of this, the Congregation has begun to increase.

Since 1972 the illegal contacts has been developed with the Province of Poland of Congregation of the Mission, and further over it with the Curia General, because the direct contact was impossible.  During the holiday season the Slovak seminarians spent mostly in the Polish Province at least the week or two, then once again the members of Polish Province came to Slovakia. 

In 1976 the General Assistant Florian Kapuściak appointed by General Father Richardson came secretly to Slovakia to conduct here the first visitation.  At the meting with him, all members of the Slovak Province agreed, that their community live will be carried out in the form of  “kvazi houses” (ad instar domus) according the regions, where the members of Congregation did act – either as diocesan priests or as secret priests in their professions.  In this way the following five houses were created:

· House „East“ (Košice)

· House „Middle“ (Banská Bystrica)

· House „Northwest“ (Trenčín)

· House „West“ (Trnava)

· House „Moravia“ (Brno)

Each of these houses did have a superior, who cared about that the confreres could meet at least once a month. At each of these meetings they prayed together and spoke about their experiences and problems. 

The suffering, which the older generation of Congregation of the Mission had to carry out in camps and in prisons, has brought a lot of God’s blessing.  This has been visible in the numbers of vocations for the Congregation of the Mission in the second stage of totalitarian regime in 1969 – 1989.   These sapling vocations of the Congregation of the Mission had been formed at one side officially – in diocesan seminaries in Olomouc and also in Bratislava. They were getting their Vincentian formation mostly through holiday season and also at the meetings in private houses with the Vincentian priests responsible for their formation during the school year.  At the other side the vocations had been formed secretly – beside their profession they secretly did their seminary studies and also secretly took on their priest ordinations.  

It was very extraordinary occasion for the life of Congregation of the Mission, when the Superior General of this Congregation – McCullen visited Slovakia in 1988.  He did manage it as a tourist.  His meeting with the members of Congregation of the Mission was organized in the highest confidentiality in the parish house at one of CM confreres.  Also the new provisional provincial statutes were approved here.  It was the extraordinary strong impulse for confreres to experience deeper their Vincentian calling.  Also the proposal that the present Slovak Vice-Province would become the autonomous Slovak Province was submitted there.  Having seen the great number of Slovak confreres, the Superior General decided to speed up this matter and truly this suggestion has become a reality.  One year later on October 24, 1989 the autonomous Slovak Province was erected.  It is interesting that this happened three weeks before the “velvet revolution”. 

After the changes in 1989 the new situation has become also for the Congregation of the Mission in Slovakia.  As the first priority it was necessary to organize the life in the Congregation.  On the feast of the Conversion of St. Paul on January 25, 1990 almost all members of the whole Province did come together in Trnava.  Also the confreres living and acting in Austria took part at this reunion.  In this very joyful time it was necessary to solve the future of the Province.  A proposal was elaborated there that the Congregation would take on three positions in Slovakia: in Bratislava, Banská Bystrica, and Košice in East Slovakia.  The Congregation of the Mission took over the parish in Bratislava - Prievoz as the first.  On February 4, 1990 there was a festive celebration of Holy Mass for introducing of the Congregation of the Mission with the participation of seminarians, Vincentian sisters and 13 confreres as concelebrants.  Few months later, when the new bishops were appointed also in Banská Bystrica and in Košice, the Congregation took on the ministries in these towns after the approval of their bishops.  It was the ministry in hospitals and in prison in Banská Bystrica, and the leading of parish in Košice-Šaca, to which also the ministry in hospitals and in prison has belonged.

On March 5. – 13. 1990 the Superior General – Richard McCullen – visited the Slovakia again in the same year to see the current state of new Province and to help her in its first steps.  It was the great impulse and encouragement for the new coming stage of life and activities of Congregation of the Mission in Slovakia.

Statistical data, as of 31. 12. 2005 
Domus canonicae
7

Sacerdotes
 33

Diakoni
2

Fratres incorporati
4

Fratres admissi
1

Scholastici admissi
8

Aetas media 
42,7

The Apostolic Priorities of the Province

1. Pastoral work in parishes

2. Formation

3. Folks Missions

4. Hospitals

5. Prisons

6. Abroad Missions – in Czech Republic and in Vice-Province of Sts. Cyril and Methodius

7. Ministry to Vincentian Family

The main Challenges of the Province

1. Permanent formation of confreres considering their young age

2. To deepen the faith of people rooted in materialism

3. To look for the new pastoral forms of vocations

4. Respond requirements for missions of Superior General 
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The Provincial House in Bratislava
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The confreres in Provincial Assemble in 2005
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